
CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA     CITY COUNCIL MEETING & 
 CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS    PUBLIC HEARING AGENDA 

Februar
 
y 2, 2021  9:00 am 

1. Call to Order by Mayor Jonathan McCollar

2. Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance by Councilmember Phil Boyum

3. Public Comments (Agenda Item):

4. Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda
A) Approval of Minutes

a) 01-19-2021 Work Session Minutes
b) 01-19-2021 Council Minutes
c) 01-19-2021 Executive Session Minutes

5. Consideration of a Motion to approve an easement agreement for installation of utility
infrastructure at the Kiwanis fairgrounds.

6. Consideration of a motion to approve a lease agreement to provide office space to
Representative Rick Allen for an additional two years with no rent assessed.

7. Consideration of a Motion to approve Resolution 2021-05: A Resolution requesting
approval to apply for Assistance to Firefighters Grant for the City of Statesboro, Georgia.

8. Consideration of a motion to approve Resolution 2021-06: A Resolution to adopt the
first amendment to the City of Statesboro Schedule of Fees, Rates, and Fines for Fiscal
Year 2021.

9. Consideration of a motion to award a contract to Wade Ford in the total amount of
$80,332.00 for the purchase of two F-350 trucks ($40,166.00 each).  Both trucks will be
paid from GMA Lease Pool.

10. Consideration of a motion to award a contract to JC Lewis Ford for the purchase of the
following vehicles:
a) Two Ford Explorers in the total amount of $58,930.00 ($29,465.00 each).  One

vehicle will be paid from the Fleet Fund revenue and the other will be paid from
Stormwater Fund revenue.

b) Two Ford F-150 trucks in the total amount of $53,752.56 ($26,876.28 each).  One
truck will be paid from the Natural Gas Fund revenue and the other will be paid from
Water/Sewer Fund revenue.

11. Other Business from City Council

12. City Managers Comments



 
 

 
13. Public Comments (General) 

 
14. Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Personnel Matters” 

“Real Estate” and/or “Potential Litigation” in accordance with O.C.G.A 50-14-3(b) 
 

15. Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 



 
 
  
 
 

CITY OF STATESBORO 
WORK SESSION MINUTES 

JANUARY 19, 2021 
 
Mayor & Council Work Session                    50 East Main Street                                                         4:00 PM 
 
A Work Session of the Statesboro City Council was held on January 19, 2021 at 4:00 p.m. in City Hall Council 
Chambers, 50 East Main Street. Present was Mayor Jonathan McCollar; Council Members: Phil Boyum, 
Paulette Chavers, John Riggs and Shari Barr. Also present was City Clerk Leah Harden, City Attorney Cain 
Smith, City Manager Charles Penny, Assistant City Manager Jason Boyles and Public Information Officer 
Layne Phillips. Absent was Councilmember Venus Mack. 
 
Mayor Jonathan McCollar called the meeting to order.  
 
 
 Quarterly Financial Report  
 
Director of Finance Cindy West presented the second quarter financial report of Fiscal Year 2021, reviewing 
the revenue and expenditures in the General Fund, Fire Service Fund, Water/Sewer Fund, Stormwater Fund, 
Natural Gas Fund, Solid Waste Collection Fund and the Solid Waste Disposal Fund. Ms. West also reviewed 
the SPLOST and TSPLOST funds from 2019 to 2020, stating that despite COVID these funds are trending 
more than 2019. Due to COVID, Hotel/Motel tax had a major decline mid- 2020 but is starting to rebound.  
 
 
Schedule for parks bidding and award report 
 
City Manager Charles Penny reviewed with Mayor and City Council the timeline for improvements to Luetta 
Moore and Grady Street Parks. Discussions for park improvements started in the fall of 2019. The county 
engaged Wood Associates to complete a park assessment and develop recommendations for enhancing and 
updating the parks. Ronald Huffman with Wood presented an assessment and sketch to Mayor and City 
council.  Later a more detailed sketch was created to reflect the discussions with council and stakeholders.  A 
virtual open house and presentation was conducted for public input. The next step is authorizing Wood to 
proceed with the design work with final plans completed on January 29th. These plans will be distributed to 
prequalified contractors on February 1st and they will have two weeks to submit a sealed bid. A contractor 
award recommendation will be presented at the March 2nd City Council Meeting and a notice to proceed to be 
issued on March 12th. 
Councilmember Phil Boyum stated he wants to see the finalized drawing with all the amended concepts before 
moving forward with awarding a bid. 
City Manager Charles Penny stated the final concept plans will be presented at the March 2nd City Council 
meeting.    
 
 
 
 
 
 



Financing Schedule for Parks 
 
Doug Gephart with Davenport the City’s Financial Advisor reviewed with Mayor and City Council the 
financing timeline plan for the park improvements project. The schedule is in conjunction with the City’s 
design and construction plans. To begin today an initial organizational meeting of the newly formed Urban 
Redevelopment Agency (URA) will be held to include the appointment of officers. In the balance of this 
month, the organization of the URA will be sent to the Department of Community Affairs to be registered. 
Davenport will put together a draft Request for Proposals (RFP) soliciting local, regional and national lending 
institutions. And the City’s Bond Counsel will distribute drafts of Basic Financing Documents and Bond 
Resolution. On February 2nd Davenport will release the RFP and start the marketing process. On February 16th 
the Urban Redevelopment Agency will need to adopt a bond resolution, which sets forth parameters by which 
Davenport and City staff has to operate. This resolution will need to be adopted by City Council along with an 
Intergovernmental Agreement with the URA. February 17-18 the validation process will begin and it will have 
its first publication in the newspaper. February 23rd RFP’s are due back to Davenport. During this time there 
will be negotiations with bidders and bond documents would be finalized. At the March 2nd meeting Davenport 
will present the RFP results along with their recommendations The Urban Redevelopment Agency will adopt 
a supplemental bond. Which in turn by resolution the City Council would approve this bond with the URA, in 
addition City Council would award a construction bid with the caveat to proceed post-closing on the financing. 
The next week in March 8-12 will include a bond validation hearing, a pre-closing and the closing on the Series 
2021 Bond. After the closing is complete, the City will give the contractor a notice to proceed.   
 
Councilmember Phil Boyum asked if the City has a signed MOU with the County regarding the funds they 
committed for the park improvements.      
 
City Manager Charles Penny stated we do not have one but stated we will get with the County securing these 
funds through an MOU.  
In addition, financing for these park are coming from SPLOST as long as it is funded. If in five years SPLOST 
it is not refunded the City will have the responsibility to repay the bond for this project whether it be from the 
City’s General Fund or through a property tax increase.   
   
 
The meeting was adjourned at 4:45 pm. 

 
 
 
 
 

 



 
 
  
 
 

CITY OF STATESBORO 
COUNCIL MINUTES 
JANUARY 19, 2021 

1 
 

 
Regular Meeting                         50 E. Main St. City Hall Council Chambers                                      5:30 PM 
 
Call to Order 
Mayor Jonathan McCollar called the meeting to order  

 
Invocation and Pledge 
Councilmember Shari Barr gave the Invocation and led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

 
ATTENDENCE  

Attendee Name Title Status Arrived 
Jonathan McCollar Mayor Present   
Phil Boyum Councilmember Present    
Paulette Chavers Mayor Pro Tem Present  
Venus Mack Councilmember Absent  
John Riggs Councilmember Present Via Zoom  
Shari Barr Councilmember Present  

 
Other staff present: City Manager Charles Penny, Assistant City Manager Jason Boyles, Public Information Officer 
Layne Phillips, City Attorney Cain Smith and City Clerk Leah Harden 

 
Public Comments (Agenda Item):  None 
 
Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 

A) Approval of Minutes 
a) 01-05-2021 Council Minutes 
b) 01-05-2021 Executive Session Minutes 

 
A motion was made to approve the consent agenda.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Shari Barr 

Mayor Pro Tem Paulette Chavers 

Boyum, Chavers, Riggs, Barr 

Councilmember Venus Mack 



2 
 

Second Reading and Consideration of a motion to approve Ordinance 2020-16: An Ordinance amending the 
Statesboro Code of Ordinances Chapter 18, Article XI establishing licensing and operational requirements for 
mobile food service units. 
 
A Motion was made to approve Ordinance 2020-16 amending the Statesboro Code of Ordinance, Chapter 18, Article 
XI establishing licensing and operational requirements for mobile food service units. 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
Consideration of a motion to approve Resolution 2021-04: A Resolution approving application of a Community 
Home Investment Program (CHIP) Grant to the Georgia Department of Community Affairs and commitment of 
matching funds. 
 
A motion was made to approve Resolution 2021-04 approving application of a Community Home Investment Program 
(CHIP) Grant to the Georgia Department of Community Affairs and commitment of matching funds.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
Other Business from City Council:  
 
Councilmember Shari Barr recognized Mayor Jonathan McCollar and City Manager Charles Penny for working with 
local health officials in trying to make vaccines available to everyone in Bulloch County. Councilmember Shari Barr 
also recognized Public Information Officer Layne Phillips for making information available as quickly as possible 
including places you can be tested and places the vaccine is available.  Councilmember Barr also thanks Statesboro for 
taking this seriously, protecting yourselves and one another.       
 
Councilmember Phil Boyum asked, what is the status on the vaccine information we requested at the last meeting? 
 
City manager Charles Penny stated a request was made to Ted Wynn with emergency management to add the number 
of persons receiving the vaccine and he is working on making that happen. Mr. Penny shared that on an earlier phone 
call with DPH so far our state has about 400,000 people that have been vaccinated.   
 
Mayor Jonathan McCollar announced that on January 30th the City of Statesboro is partnering with Feed the Boro for 
food distribution at Statesboro High School.   
 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Mayor Pro Tem Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Shari Barr 

Boyum, Chavers, Riggs, Barr 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Shari Barr 

Mayor Pro Tem Paulette Chavers 

Boyum, Chavers, Riggs, Barr 

 Councilmember Venus Mack 



 

3 
 

City Managers Comments 
 
City Manager Charles Penny updated the Mayor and City Council of the money used from the Utility, Mortgage/Rental 
and Small Business relief funds.  
 
Mr. Penny stated DPH will start COVID testing at Luetta Moore Park five days a week.  
 
In addition, we are looking for a location, possibly the St. Simmons Island area to hold the City Council Retreat on 
March 12-13.  
 
Mayor Jonathan McCollar stated on January 4th he tested positive for the Corona Virus and he is extremely fortunate he 
had very mild symptoms. Even with mild symptoms, this is something you do not want to deal with. So, please Statesboro 
take every precaution to protect your family protect yourselves. The quickest way back to normalcy is to adhere to the 
CDC guidelines and continue to listen to the experts in the field.  
 
 
Public Comments (General): None 
 
 
Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Potential Litigation” in accordance with 
O.C.G.A. 50-14-3(b). 
 
At 5:51 pm, a motion was made to enter into Executive Session.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
At 6:22 pm, a motion was made to exit Executive Session.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
Mayor Jonathan McCollar called the regular meeting back to order with no action taken in Executive Session. 
 
 
 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Mayor Pro Tem Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Shari Barr  

Boyum, Chavers, Riggs, Barr 

Councilmember Venus Mack  

Approved (Unanimous) 

Mayor Pro Tem Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Shari Barr  

Boyum, Chavers, Riggs, Barr 

Councilmember Venus Mack  



4 
 

A Motion was made to appoint Debbie Vives, Karen Lambi, Lainie Jenkins, Renata Newbill-Jallow, Stacey Grant, Mike 
Jones, Crecy Robins, Lakesha Hill and LaShai Campbell to the Youth Commission. 
 
  

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
Mayor Jonathan McCollar stated all other applicants are appointed as ex-officio members.  
 
Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 
 
A motion was made to adjourn.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 6:23 pm 
  

_______________________________ 
Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 

 
_______________________________ 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Shari Barr 

Mayor Pro Tem Paulette Chavers  

Boyum, Chavers, Riggs, Barr 

Councilmember Venus Mack   

Approved (Unanimous) 

Mayor Pro Tem Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Phil Boyum  

Boyum, Chavers, Riggs, Barr 

Councilmember Venus Mack   



 

 

CITY OF STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum 
Paulette Chavers 
Venus Mack 
John C. Riggs 
Shari Barr 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence  
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

To: Charles Penny, City Manager and Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 
From: Cain Smith, City Attorney 
 
Date: January 26, 2021 
 
RE: February 2, 2021 City Council Agenda Items 
 
Policy Issue: Easement Agreement as to installation of utilities infrastructure at 
the Kiwanis fairgrounds 
 
Recommendation: Consideration 
 
Background: City has extended utilities infrastructure down Highway 67 (Fair 
Road). This agreement would provide for grant of a permanent utilities 
easement to City through the Kiwanis fairgrounds site in exchange for the City 
installing 173 feet of 12” PVC water main, 8” stub with valve in box, 4” stub with 
valve in box, 2 additional fire hydrants, and a 12” water main stub for future 
expansion waiving the tap fees and engineering fees as well as the installation 
of Sanitary Sewer Manhole and additional 12” water main improvements. 
 
Budget Impact: Estimate cost of utility extension $29,000.00  
 
Council Person and District: John Riggs- District 4 
 
Attachments: Proposed easement agreement 



 

 

 

AGREEMENT WITH RESPECT TO EASEMENTS 
  

AGREEMENT WITH RESPECT TO EASEMENT (“Contract”) is made and entered into 

as of this the ____ day of ____________, 2021, by and between KIWANIS CLUB OF 

STATESBORO, GEORGIA, INC. a Georgia non-profit corporation, as party of the first part, 

(hereinafter referred to as “Grantor”), and MAYOR AND COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

STATESBORO, as party of the second part, (hereinafter referred to as “Grantee”).  

  

 

1.  GRANT OF EASEMENTS: For the consideration herein expressed and upon the 

terms and conditions herein contained, the Grantor agrees to grant unto the Mayor and 

Council of the City of Statesboro that certain Permanent Utility Easement in 

substantially the form as attached hereto as Exhibit “A” and that certain Temporary 

Construction Easement in substantially the form as attached hereto as Exhibit “B”, both 

Exhibits “A” and “B” incorporated herein and made a part hereof (together the 

“Easements”).  Execution of this Agreement by the authorized officers of Grantee and 

Grantor shall create an unconditional obligation on the part of the Grantor to execute 

and deliver the Easements to the Grantee and shall further create the unconditional 

obligation on the part of Grantee to make the improvements for the benefit of Grantor 

in accordance with paragraph 2 hereof.   

 

   

2.  CONSIDERATION:  The consideration for the grant of the Easements by Grantor 

is based on the agreement that Grantee agrees to install 173 feet of 12” PVC water 

main, 8” stub with valve in box, 4” stub with valve in box, 2 additional fire hydrants, 

and a 12” water main stub for future expansion – as per sheet C 5.1 of the Plans for the 

Proposed Water and Sewer Improvements, Georgia Highway 67-Fair Road, Statesboro, 

Georgia, dated October 16, 2020, prepared by Maxwell Reddick and Associates (the 

“Maxwell Plans”).   In addition, Grantee agrees that it will install a Sanitary Sewer 

Manhole on Grantor’s property within the easement area. Said Sanitary Sewer Manhole 

shall provide Grantor a gravity feed sanitary sewer system that provides for any future 

sanitary sewer installation on Grantor’s Property. This additional sewer manhole will 

be constructed as per sheet C 6.1 of the Maxwell Plans.  

 

  

3.  CLOSING: The execution of the Easements by Grantor shall occur on or before ten 

(10) days after the Effective Date of this Contract.   

 

  

4.  CLOSING PROCEDURES: At or following Closing:    

  

 

 

(a)  The Grantor shall deliver to Grantee the duly executed Easements and such 

further instruments as may be required by the Grantee to complete the grant of 

the Easements and to carry out the terms hereof.  



 

  

(b)  The Grantee shall pay for any of Grantor’s attorney’s fees, and title curative 

instruments.  The Grantee shall pay Grantee’s attorney’s fees, the survey costs 

for the Easements and the recording cost for the Easements.    

  

(c)  The Grantor shall execute and deliver to the Grantee any and all other 

instruments as may be required in the discretion of the Grantee to vest the 

Easements in favor of the Grantee.  

  

(d)  This Agreement and performance by Grantor is conditioned upon the Grantee 

accepting and executing the Easements and waiving the tap fees and 

engineering fees as well as the installation of Sanitary Sewer Manhole and 

additional 12” water main improvements stated in the consideration recited in 

Paragraph #2 hereinabove.    

   

5.  EFFECTIVE DATE: The date of this Agreement shall be the date on which the last 

party executes the same.    

  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement under seal 

as of the day and year first written above.    

  

 

 

As to the Grantor:  

KIWANIS CLUB OF STATESBORO, 

GEORGIA,  INC.  

  

  

By: ____________________________________  

Signed, sealed and delivered          

before me this the ____ day      

of ________________, 2021.     

            Attest: __________________________________  

 

_______________________  

Witness  

  

_______________________  

Notary Public  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

  

 

 

As to the Grantee:  

MAYOR AND COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

STATESBORO 

  

  

By: ____________________________________  

Signed, sealed and delivered          

before me this the ____ day      

of ________________, 2021.     

            Attest: __________________________________  

 

_______________________  

Witness  

  

_______________________  

Notary Public  

 

  

  



 

EXHIBIT “A” 

  

  

  

[ SEE PERMANENT UTILITY EASEMENT FORM ATTACHED HERETO] 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  



 

EXHIBIT “B” 

  

  

  

[ SEE TEMPORARY CONSTRUCTION EASEMENT FORM ATTACHED HERETO] 

  

  



 

 

CITY OF STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum 
Paulette Chavers 
Venus Mack 
John C. Riggs 
Shari Barr 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence  
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

To: Charles Penny, City Manager and Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 
From: Cain Smith, City Attorney 
 
Date: January 26, 2021 
 
RE: February 2, 2021 City Council Agenda Items 
 
Policy Issue: Lease agreement to provide office space to Representative Rick 
Allen for an additional two years with no rent assessed. 
 
Recommendation: Consideration 
 
Background: City has traditionally provided office space in City Hall to our 
Congressional representative. This lease would continue the placement of the 
office in City Hall through Rep Allen’s current two year term in the U.S. House of 
Representatives 
 
Budget Impact: None 
 
Council Person and District: All 
 
Attachments: Proposed lease agreement 

















Statesboro Fire Department 
Proudly serving the City of Statesboro and 

surrounding communities since 1905! 
 

   

24 West Grady Street | Statesboro, GA 30458 
Phone: (912) 764-3473 | Fax: (912) 681-7205 

 

Timothy E. Grams 
Fire Chief 

Jonathan M. McCollar 
Mayor 

City Council Agenda Memorandum 
 
To: Charles Penny, City Manager  
 
From: Timothy E. Grams, Fire Chief 
 
Date: 1-28-2021 
 
RE: Submission of Application for the Assistance to Firefighters Grant (AFG). 
 
Policy Issue: NA 
 
Recommendation: Allow the Statesboro Fire Department to submit an application for AFG funding for 
projects outlined below. 
 
Background: In the fall of each year the Federal Government invites fire departments from around the 
country to submit an application to the Assistance to Firefighters Grant (AFG). The primary goal of the 
AFG is to help local fire departments meet their firefighting and emergency response needs, through the 
awarding of monetary funds to ascertain critically needed equipment protective gear, emergency 
vehicles, training, programs and other resources.  The AFG is a competitive process and it is the Fire 
Department’s desire to submit an application for the three following projects in this grant period.  The 
total for these three projects is $151,000.00. 

1) Continuation of the Fire Department Physician Program. 
• This program was awarded in the Department’s 2019 AFG Grant in the amount of 

$25,000.  
• $35,000.00 project request. 

2) Cascade System 
• Replacement of a 25+ year-old system 
• If approved funding would be used to purchase a new SCBA Compressor and 

SCBA fill station capable of filling current and future SCBA cylinders to NFPA 
Standards. 

• $66,000 project request. 
3) Station Generator for Station 2 

• Purchase of a new “full power” building generator for Station 2. 
• $50,000 project request. 



Statesboro Fire Department 
Proudly serving the City of Statesboro and 

surrounding communities since 1905! 
 

   

24 West Grady Street | Statesboro, GA 30458 
Phone: (912) 764-3473 | Fax: (912) 681-7205 

 

Timothy E. Grams 
Fire Chief 

Jonathan M. McCollar 
Mayor 

 
 
 
Budget Impact: The relevant stipulations of this grant would be a 10% cost share to be paid by the City.  
This would equate to $15,100.00 if the Fire Department were awarded all three projects at the total 
amount of funding requested. Fire Department Staff believe that this cost can be absorbed by the Fire 
Department’s annual budget which would require no additional allocation of funds.  
 
Council Person and District: All 
 
Attachments: Resolution Requesting Approval to Apply for the 2020 Assistance to Firefighters Grant 
(AFG).  
  



RESOLUTION 2021-05: A RESOLUTION REQUESTING APPROVAL TO APPLY FOR 
ASSISTANCE TO FIREFIGHTERS GRANT FOR THE CITY OF STATESBORO, 

GEORGIA 

THAT WHEREAS, the Federal Emergency Management Agency announce the 
availability of Assistance to Firefighter Grant, which may be utilized to aid fire departments 
with needs associated with fire service delivery within their communities; and   

WHEREAS, the Federal Emergency Management Agency could award the City of Statesboro 
up to $151,000.00 with a ten percent (10%) cost share or equivalent in-kind expenditure.  

WHERAS, this grant allows the expenditures of the grant funds over a twelve (12) month 
period and is reimbursed to the funded agency. 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of 
Statesboro, Georgia in regular session assembled this 2nd day of February, 2021 hereby authorizes 
the application for the 2020 Assistance to Firefighter Grant. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the funding will be through the City of Statesboro 
Fire Department budget for expenditures from this grant. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the City Manager is hereby authorized to execute all 
documents related to the application of said grant. 

Adopted this 2nd day of February, 2021. 

CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 

_______________________________ 
By: Jonathan M. McCollar, Mayor 

_______________________________ 
Attest: Leah Harden, City Clerk 



RESOLUTION 2021-06:  A RESOLUTION TO ADOPT THE FIRST AMENDMENT 
TO THE CITY OF STATESBORO SCHEDULE OF FEES, RATES, AND FINES FOR 

FISCAL YEAR 2021.  
 

 THAT WHEREAS, the City Council viewed and approved the City of Statesboro 
Schedule of Fees, Rates, and Fines that incorporates all departments inclusive for Fiscal 
Year 2021. 
 
 WHEREAS, it is required by the departments to uphold the policy and pricing as 
laid out within the document as the standard. 
           

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council have reviewed a proposed First 
Amendment to the Schedule of Fees, Rates, and Fines from the City Manager that includes 
proposed rates and penalties for Mobile Food Services. 
 
  WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council wish to adopt this First  
Amendment for Fiscal Year 2021; 
 
 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and City Council of the 
City of Statesboro, Georgia as follows: 
 
 Section 1.  That the proposed changes to the Schedule of Fees, Rates,  and Fines, 
attached hereto as Attachment #1 and incorporated herein as a part of this Resolution, are 
hereby adopted as the First Amendment for the City's Fiscal Year 2021 Schedule of Fees, 
Rates, and Fines.. 
 
 Section 5.  That this Resolution shall be and remain in full force and effect from 
and after its date of adoption. 
 
 Adopted this 2nd day of February, 2021. 
 
 
 
CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 
 
 
 
__________________________________________ 
By:  Jonathan M. McCollar, Mayor 
 
 
 
__________________________________________ 
Attest: Leah Harden, City Clerk 

 
 



ATTACHMENT #1 
 

FY 2021 FIRST SCHEDULE OF FEES, RATES AND FINES AMENDMENT 
 

Page 4:  Mobile Food Service Business License   $200.00   
              Mobile Food Service Location Permit         25.00  
 

   Violations of the Mobile Food Service Ordinance: 
First Violation    250.00        
Second Violation within the 12 months following the first violation 350.00  
Third violation within 12 month following the first violation 500.00 and 
revocation of the mobile food service location approvals  

 
. 
 
. 
 



City of Statesboro Schedule 
of Fees, Rates and Fines 

For FY 2021

4

Fee Description:
Government                                

Statute
FY 2020                 

(Adopted)
FY 2021   

(Adopted)         
Last Known          

Increase
Class 2d, Low Volume City Ordinance Sec 6-4 ( c ) 2 $750.00 $750.00 October 15, 2019
Class 2e, Pub City Ordinance Sec 6-4 ( c ) 2 $5,600.00 $5,600.00 October 15, 2019
Class 2f, Restaurant City Ordinance Sec 6-4 ( c ) 2 $2,800.00 $2,800.00 October 15, 2019
Class 3, Licensed Alcoholic Beverage Caterer City Ordinance Sec 6-4 ( c ) 3 $200.00 $200.00 July 1, 2016
Class 4, Brewer, Manufacturer of Malt Beverages Only City Ordinance Sec 6-4 ( c ) 4 $1,750.00 $1,750.00 July 1, 2016
Class 5, Broker City Ordinance Sec 6-4 ( c ) 5 $1,750.00 $1,750.00 July 1, 2016
Class 6, Importer City Ordinance Sec 6-4 ( c ) 6 $1,750.00 $1,750.00 July 1, 2016
Class 7, Manufacture of Wine Only City Ordinance Sec 6-4 ( c ) 7 $1,750.00 $1,750.00 July 1, 2016
Sunday Sales Permit City Ordinance Sec 6-5 ( d ) $300.00 $300.00 July 1, 2016
Temporary Special Events Permit City Ordinance Sec 6 (d) (3) (b)
City Licensed Caterer City Ordinance Sec 6 (d) (3) (b) $100.00 (Day 1)
All other Applicants City Ordinance Sec 6 (d) (3) (b) $200.00 (Day 2)
Additional Days City Ordinance Sec 6 (d) (3) (a) $50.00 (per day)
In Room Service Permit City Ordinance Sec 6-5 ( q ) $150.00 $150.00 July 1, 2016
Event Permit for Caterers (Per Event) City Ordinance Sec 6-5 ( p ) $15.00 $15.00 July 1, 2016

Alcohol Beverage Control Security Permit (Obtained at Statesboro Police Dept.) $50.00 $50.00 July 1, 2015
Penalty Fee for Renewal Applications

Applications filed after May 1 but before May 16 City Ordinance Sec 6-5 ( I ) $200.00 $200.00 July 1, 2015
Applications filed after May 16 but before June 1 City Ordinance Sec 6-5 ( I ) $300.00 $300.00 July 1, 2015
Applications filed after June 1 * Percent applied City Ordinance Sec 6-5 ( I ) July 1, 2015

Note: * 20% of Annual License Fee but not less than $500.00 whichever is greater.
Criminal Background Check Fee for Alcohol License GAPS GA Applicant Proc Serv $51.00 GAPS $51.00 GAPS > 10 Years
Application Fee for Business License  (Occupational Tax Certificate) City Ordinance Sec 18-102 $40.00 $40.00 July 1, 2015
Business License Fee ( Permit for Employee) City Ordinance Sec 18-104 $20.00 $20.00 > 10 Years
Business License Flat Fee ( for all businesses) City Ordinance Sec 18-104 $95.00 $95.00 July 1, 2015
Mobile Food Service Business License City Ordinance 18-309 (c) $200.00 January 19, 2021
Mobile Food Service Location Permit City Ordinance 18-309 (c) (10) $25.00 January 19, 2021
Penalties for Violations of Mobile Food Service Ordinance:

First Violation City Ordinance 18-315 (d) (1) $250.00 January 19, 2021
Second Violation within the 12 months following the first violation City Ordinance 18-315 (d) (2) $350.00 January 19, 2021
Third Violation within the 12 months following the first violation and City Ordinance 18-315 (d) (3) $500.00 January 19, 2021
revocation of the mobile food service location approvals

Special Event Permit City Ordinance Sec 6-8 ( 2 ) $50.00 $50.00 July 1, 2015
Distance Waiver Application Fee City Ordinance Sec 6-5 ( o) $150.00 $150.00 July 1, 2015
Temporary Vendors Lic. Application Fee (Street vendors, seasonal, garage sales) City Ordinance Sec 18-2 $40.00 $40.00 July 1, 2015
Practitioners of Professions and Occupations -Occupation Tax City Ordinance Sec 18-105 $400.00 $400.00 > 9 Years
Violation of Businesses who Fail or Refuse To Pay Occupation Tax City Ordinance Sec 18-114 (d) $500.00 $500.00 > 9 Years
Taxi Cab Vehicle for Hire Regulatory Fee City Ordinance Sec 18-103 (a) (1) $80.00 $80.00 July 1, 2015
Pawn Shop License Fee City Ordinance Sec 18-62 $250.00 $250.00 July 1, 2014
Pawn Shop Additional Location Fee City Ordinance Sec 18-62 $250.00 $250.00 July 1, 2014
Pawn Shop Regulatory Fee City Ordinance Sec 18-103 (6) (a) $60.00 $60.00 July 1, 2015



 

 

   CITY OF STATESBORO 

    50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
     STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Venus Mack, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari Barr, District 5 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • www.statesboroga.gov 

 
To:               Charles Penny, City Manager 
                       Jason Boyles, Assistant City Manager   
 From:           Darren Prather, Central Services, Director 
 Date:             February 2, 2021 
 RE:        Recommendation: Bid Award—Vehicles-Engineering, Fleet Maintenance Motor pool, Fleet    

Maintenance Supervisor, Street, Natural Gas and Waste Water Dept. 
 
Recommendations: 
 
We recommend the bid award for the purchase of vehicles be awarded as follows: 
 

1. (2)   Ford F350 SRW 4X4        $40,166.00 ea.  Total $80,332.00  Wade Ford   
2. (2)   Ford Explorer Base 4WD         $29,465.00 ea.  Total $58,930.00  JC Lewis Ford 
3. (2)   Ford ½ Ton Extra Cab 4X2 Short Bed    $26,876.28 ea.  Total $53,752.56  JC Lewis Ford 

   
 
These submitted bids represent the lowest responsible bid for each vehicle. The 3% local preference policy was 
applied.  

 
Background: 
These vehicles were advertised and bid out and advertised per our purchasing ordinance requirements. On the 
following page, is a listing of all submitted sealed bids.  These vehicles are intended for the following departments 
and included are the CIP numbers complete with the amounts budgeted for these vehicles. 
 
Vehicles         CIP #                      Budgeted Amts. 
 
1. Qty. 1; Ford F350 SRW 4x4    CIP STS-74  $40,166.00 ($166 over budget due to 4% factory 
increase from 2020 model year 
2. Qty. 1; Ford F350 SRW 4x4    CIP PRK-11  $40,166.00 ($166 over budget due to 4% factory 
increase from 2020 model year.). 
3. Qty. 1; Ford Explorer Base 4 WD   CIP STM-7     $29,465.00 
4. Qty. 1; Ford Explorer Base 4 WD   CIP FMD-37  $29,465.00  
5. Qty. 1; Ford ½ Ton Super Cab Short Bed    CIP NGD 67  $26,876.28 
6. Qty. 1; Ford ½ Ton Super Cab Short Bed    CIP WTP-4  $26,876.28 
 

 
 
Council Person and District: All 
Attachments: Spreadsheet—All Submitted Bids 
 
 


	02-02-2021 Council Agenda
	1-19-2021 Work Session Minuets
	01-19-2021 Council Minutes
	Kiwanis sewer Memo
	Kiwanis [Fairground Easment] Agreement with Respect to Easements - Updated Draft -
	Alllen lease memo
	District Office Lease Amnedment 2021
	1-28-21-FD AFG Council Agenda Memo-UPDATED
	Grant Application Resolution for 2020 AFG-1-2021-UPDATED
	Statesboro Rates and Fees Resolution Amendment 1
	City of Statesboro Schedule of Fees and Rates Adopted FY 2021
	Updated
	SMC Fines
	Sheet2

	Purchase of ford vehicles

